STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT

CITY OF DEARBORN,

Plaintiff/Counter-Defendant/Appellee,

v

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as successor-in-
interest to STANDARD FEDERAL BANK, N.A.,

Defendant/Counter-Defendant/Appellee,
and

WEST DEARBORN PARTNERS, LLC,

Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff/Appellant.

SC No. _____
COA No. 339704
LC No. 15-012788-CH
(Wayne Circuit Court)

NOTICE OF FILING APPLICATION

APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL BY WEST DEARBORN PARTNERS, LLC

STATEMENT OF THE QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I.

WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED WHEN AFFIRMING SUMMARY DISPOSITION IN FAVOR OF THE CITY OF DEARBORN BY RULING THAT WEST DEARBORN'S RECORDED MORTGAGE INTEREST DID NOT SURVIVE THE BANKRUPTCY ORDER, PRESERVING "ALL LIENS, INTERESTS, RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF RECORD," WHEN THE MORTGAGE WAS PREVIOUSLY RECORDED SIX YEARS EARLIER?

City of Dearborn says "No."

West Dearborn Partners says "Yes."

The trial court presumably says "No."

The Michigan Court of Appeals says "No."

II.

WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED BY REJECTING WEST DEARBORN'S EQUITABLE ARGUMENTS, WHERE THE CITY REVERSED ITS POSITION IN THE BANKRUPTCY COURT REGARDING WEST DEARBORN'S INTEREST AND RECEIVED A WINDFALL AFTER PURCHASING PARCEL C FOR \$1.00 WITH ACTUAL KNOWLEDGE OF WEST DEARBORN'S INTEREST?

City of Dearborn says "No."

West Dearborn Partners says "Yes."

The trial court presumably says "No."

The Michigan Court of Appeals says "No."

III.

WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED BY FINDING THAT THE MORTGAGE WAS EXTINGUISHED BY BANK OF AMERICA IN AUGUST 2015, WHEN BANK OF AMERICA HAD PREVIOUSLY ASSIGNED AND SOLD THE MORTGAGE AND UNDERLYING NOTE TO WEST DEARBORN IN 2011?

City of Dearborn says “No.”

West Dearborn Partners says “Yes.”

The trial court presumably says “No.”

The Michigan Court of Appeals says “No.”

**STATEMENT IDENTIFYING ORDER APPEALED AND
GROUNDS FOR SUPREME COURT REVIEW**

Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff/Appellant West Dearborn Partners, LLC (“West Dearborn”) appeal from the February 12, 2019 opinion and order of the Court of Appeals issued by Judges Stephens, K. F. Kelly and Tukel, affirming the trial court’s grant of summary disposition against West Dearborn and in favor of Plaintiff/Counter-Defendant/Appellee City of Dearborn (“City”) in this quiet title action (**Exhibit A**).

This application satisfies the criteria for Supreme Court review under MCR 7.305(B) because it raises issues of significance to the state’s jurisprudence and because the Court of Appeals opinion is clearly erroneous, causes material prejudice to West Dearborn, and conflicts with published authority from that court and this Court. First, the Court of Appeals incorrectly finds that a validly recorded mortgage can disappear into thin air following entry of a bankruptcy order that explicitly preserves all “obligations of record.” The Court of Appeals found that the unrecorded assignment of that mortgage to West Dearborn from Bank of America did not survive the bankruptcy order, but this ignores that the underlying note was sold by Bank of America to West Dearborn, making West Dearborn the holder of the mortgage regardless of whether the assignment was recorded. *Prime Financial Services LLC v Vinton*, 279 Mich App 245, 257; 761 NW2d 694 (2008). The Court of Appeals acknowledged this argument (**Exhibit A**, pp 5-6), but then found that Bank of America had later discharged the mortgage which (a) it did not own, having sold the note to West Dearborn; and (b) had assigned to West Dearborn, with that assignment being effective regardless of whether it was recorded. The Court of Appeals opinion directly conflicts with its own published authority in *Prime Financial Services* and the decisions of this Court forming the basis for that decision.

The Court of Appeals opinion also conflicts with its published decision in *Coventry Park Homes Condo Ass’n v Federal Nat’l Mtg Ass’n*, 298 Mich App 252, 256-257; 827 NW2d 379 (2012), which provides that when a mortgage is assigned, the assignee becomes a party to the mortgage and stands in the shoes

of the mortgagee. While the Court attempts to distinguish *Coventry* by noting that *Coventry* involved a priority dispute under the Condominium Act, *Coventry* itself holds that “[w]hile the Condominium Act governs the parties’ priority dispute, we note that the result reached today is consistent with the principle that an assignee stands in the place of an assignor, including for purposes of priority rights with respect to an assignment of a mortgage.” *Id.* at 260-261. It is this latter principle upon which West Dearborn relies, and which the Court of Appeals erroneously disregarded based on the “unique” facts of this case (**Exhibit A**, p 5).

The Court of Appeals opinion further disregarded well-settled principles of equity. First, the Court of Appeals misapplied the doctrine of judicial estoppel by comparing and finding similar two statements made by the City in the same bankruptcy proceeding, rather than statements made by the City in the bankruptcy proceeding and the separate quiet title proceeding (**Exhibit A**, pp 6-8). The requirements of estoppel are satisfied where the City claimed in the bankruptcy proceeding that the bankruptcy order would protect the interests of West Dearborn, but then asserted in the quiet title proceeding that the bankruptcy order extinguished West Dearborn’s interest in the property due to the unrecorded assignment. The trial court and the Court of Appeals subverted the bankruptcy court’s intent that West Dearborn’s interest in the property be protected, causing material prejudice to West Dearborn.

Second, in weighing the equities, the Court of Appeals fixates on West Dearborn’s admitted failure to record the assignment while ignoring that the City cannot be a bona fide purchaser for value under MCL 565.29 because it had actual knowledge of the sale of the note for \$150,000 and the assignment of the mortgage from Bank of America to West Dearborn (*Id.*, pp 8-9). Stated differently, the City’s actual knowledge of the sale and assignment of the mortgage rendered superfluous any consideration of whether the City could purchase the property in good faith (for \$1.00) simply because the rest of the world was not on notice of the unrecorded assignment. In West Dearborn’s view, when the Court of Appeals considered the equitable arguments presented, it placed exclusive weight in the failure to record the assignment in

March 2011 and no apparent weight in the windfall now enjoyed by the City. Although it may not be the role of the Court of Appeals to “protect sophisticated parties and their counsel for mistakes,” (**Exhibit A**, p 8), it is the role of the Court to balance the equities when it comes to real estate interests in a quiet title lawsuit. West Dearborn asks this Court to grant leave to appeal or otherwise issue relief to protect West Dearborn’s interests in the property.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Introduction.

This lawsuit reflects an effort by the Plaintiff/Counter-Defendant/Appellee City of Dearborn ("City") to sidestep a prior recorded mortgage ("Mortgage") later held by Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff/Appellant West Dearborn Partners, LLC ("West Dearborn"). In 2005, the City sold the property ("Subject Property" or "Parcel C"), along with other parcels, for approximately \$2.8 million. It then acquired its interest in the Subject Property from the Bankruptcy Court in 2011 - for \$1.00. The interest the City acquired from the Bankruptcy Trustee was subject to the Mortgage lien held by West Dearborn, which had acquired the existing 2005 Mortgage and related loan from Bank of America ("BOA") on March 31, 2011. The assignment of the Mortgage was not recorded when the Bankruptcy Trustee sold the Subject Property to the City for the proverbial \$1.00. However, the Mortgage had been recorded years earlier, and was of record when the Bankruptcy Trustee sold the Subject Property. Yet, in this ensuing litigation, the Honorable Muriel D. Hughes of the Wayne County Circuit Court interpreted the Bankruptcy Order's express terms – providing abandonment of the property "shall not impair, and the property shall remain subject to, all claims, liens, interest, rights and obligations of record" – as inapplicable to the recorded Mortgage. The trial court reasoned that the Assignment of the Mortgage must also have been recorded, i.e., be "of record," for the Mortgage to qualify as a "lien" or "interest" "of record," even though there was no debate that the Mortgage itself was recorded at that time. The Court of Appeals doubled-down on this error, fixating on West Dearborn's failure to record the Assignment while ignoring West Dearborn's rights as assignee under the Mortgage itself. Under the Court of Appeals opinion, the Mortgage has simply vanished into thin air, leaving a windfall for the City, which had acknowledged West Dearborn's interest in the property in the bankruptcy court. This result is untenable and inequitable under Michigan law, and West Dearborn requests this Court grant leave to appeal or otherwise issue relief.

B. Statement of material facts.

The Subject Property is a vacant piece of property lying between two parking decks in the West Dearborn area, between Michigan Avenue and the railroad tracks, west of Oakwood Avenue. It is identified as “Parcel C” in many of the related documents and instruments.

On May 9, 2005, the City sold the Subject Property, along with other properties, to West Village Commons, LLC (“West Village”) (Deed, **Exhibit B**). The City received around \$2.8 million dollars. In part, the transaction appears to have been financed by the Mortgage given by West Village to Standard Federal Bank dated May 11, 2005, and recorded on June 7, 2005 (**Exhibit C**).¹ The project apparently stalled. In 2009, the City filed suit in the Wayne County Circuit Court to specifically enforce certain agreements and for damages against the owner and the related developer, Burton-Katzman (Wayne County Circuit Court Case No. 09-001342-CH). That case went back and forth from the Court of Appeals.²

In the meantime, Anmar Sarafa (“Sarafa”), the then-managing partner of West Dearborn, was looking for investment opportunities in 2010-2011, as the economy was still in recession. He was assisted by attorney Scott Lites. Sarafa (on behalf of an entity to-be-named – ultimately West Dearborn) completed a deal with BOA to purchase the subject mortgage loan for \$150,000.00 (**Exhibit D**, the Note Sale, Assignment Agreement, and First and Second Amendments). The deal closed on March 31, 2011, with the related allonge, a type of assignment of note (**Exhibit E**), and assignment of mortgage (“Assignment”) (**Exhibit F**) delivered by BOA. The Mortgage itself provided that “the Mortgagor hereby mortgages, warrants and grants a security interest to the Mortgagee, its successors and assigns, in and to the Premises” (**Exhibit C**, p 2) (emphasis added). Paragraph 19 of the Mortgage (page 10 of 15) states

¹ This mortgage, eventually acquired by West Dearborn from Bank of America (“BOA”), is the subject of the present lawsuit. Prior to its assignment to West Dearborn, it was originally given to Standard Federal Bank National Association and then held by LaSalle Bank and then BOA, by related mergers.

² It appears that the circuit court issued orders to enforce related agreements to develop the property, but the City was unable to obtain damages.

(emphasis added):

Binding Effect: All of the covenants and conditions hereof shall run with the land and shall be binding upon the successors and assignees of the Mortgagor and shall inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of Mortgagee; any reference herein to 'Mortgagee' shall include the successors and assigns of Mortgagee.

In August 2010, West Village went into bankruptcy. While a primary concern seemed to be West Village's attempts to shed its obligations related to certain restrictions and a related Development Agreement, the City sought to recover the Subject Property through the bankruptcy. The Bankruptcy Trustee filed a Motion to Sell Property and, with such, West Dearborn then appeared in the bankruptcy and filed Objections to a Motion for Order Approving Sale (which included a copy of the executed Assignment to West Dearborn) to ensure that West Dearborn's interests were protected (**Exhibit G**). Various other pleadings were filed, through which it became clear that the City had actual notice of the assignee interest of West Dearborn. On July 13, 2011, the City's bankruptcy counsel, Bob Gordon of Clark Hill, was advised by BOA's counsel that the BOA Mortgage and related loan had been sold to West Dearborn. He was further advised in the same e-mail of the contact information for Mr. Sarafa and his attorney, Scott Lites (**Exhibit H**).

On October 4, 2011, a hearing was held in the bankruptcy court to abandon the Subject Property and for its ultimate conveyance by the Trustee to the City. The Order of Abandonment (**Exhibit I**) did not require the recording of the Assignment to West Dearborn prior to the Quit Claim Deed to the City (**Exhibit J**) in order to preserve West Dearborn's mortgagee interest. Instead, the Order stated that "[t]he Trustee is directed to promptly abandon the Debtor's real property... Such abandonment shall not impair, and the Property shall remain subject to, all claims, liens, interests, rights and obligations of record." Accordingly, the City's bankruptcy counsel told the bankruptcy court:

The other thing I wanted to highlight, your Honor, is the proposed order here. Our proposed order states very clearly in paragraph 2, among other things, that the abandonment - - first of all, it contemplates a quit claim deed, and it says that such abandonment shall not impair and the property shall remain subject to all claims, liens,

interests, rights, and obligations of record. The West Dearborn Partners, the Mortgagee - - the holder of the Mortgage and the note on the property, has indicated it wants to make sure that the property is subject to its rights and interests. This order already does that. So the rights of the holder of the Mortgage are not prejudiced in any way by the abandonment here, and no other party other than the trustee has objected to the abandonment. And the trustee has just indicated that there is no value to the property to the estate, so we would suggest that our motion is proper, and we would ask that it be granted. Thank you, your Honor.

(**Exhibit K**, Transcript, p. 35). After the City confirmed that West Dearborn was the mortgagee/holder of the Mortgage and the Note on the property, the bankruptcy judge herself noted ““I do believe under both 554 and 105 that there are grounds for this Court to require abandonment directly to the City of Dearborn. The mortgagee in this case certainly can enforce its remedies. The order that was proposed and attached to the motion protects the rights of anybody else with an interest in the property.” (Id. at 37) (emphasis supplied). Under these stated expectations, the Order of Abandonment was entered and the Subject Property was then conveyed to the City by the Trustee by way of a quit claim deed on October 17, 2011.

In the instant action, West Dearborn’s attorney, Scott Lites, testified in his deposition that because the Assignment (which had been prepared by BOA) lacked an acknowledgement page, he had to track down the signer of the Assignment, Mark Mokolke, and get his signature acknowledged in order to record the Assignment (Lites Deposition, **Exhibit L**, pp. 39-44, 59-60). Lites testified, and it was later corroborated by Mokolke, that Lites was unable to get the requisite acknowledgement page until approximately July 2014, because Mokolke had been transferred by BOA to California and had totally different contact information (**Exhibit M**, Mokolke Deposition, p. 54).

The Mortgage (**Exhibit C**) includes both the Subject Property and separate property containing condominium units. It was testified to by both Sarafa and West Dearborn’s current principal, Doraid Elder, that West Dearborn decided to let the condominium units go down for unpaid property taxes (those units were not owned by the City) (Elder Deposition, **Exhibit N**, p. 82-84).

In late 2014, the related property tax foreclosure purchasers of those condominium units filed a

quiet title action in the Wayne County Circuit Court to clear the title as to any interest they had purchased as to those condominium units (see tax purchasers' Complaint, **Exhibit O**). BOA was named as a defendant, apparently because the Mortgage was still of record and West Dearborn's Assignment had not yet been recorded (and was not recorded until December 17, 2015). Eventually, the court in that case found that BOA had no interest in the property and ordered it to discharge the Mortgage (see Order, **Exhibit P** and Discharge, **Exhibit Q**). BOA's related representative, Sara Allen, testified that while the BOA loan and Mortgage had indeed been sold to West Dearborn, with the related Assignment done on March 31, 2011, she had forgotten about the Assignment when she drafted the discharge and the bank did not realize this when the tax purchaser lawsuit was pending. Nevertheless, she confirmed that BOA had no interest in the Subject Property, had nothing to discharge, and that its actual participation in the lawsuit was in error (Sara Allen transcript, **Exhibit R**, pages 58-60, 76, 79-80). Later, BOA's attorney recorded an Affidavit of Scrivener's Error excluding the Subject Property from that Discharge (**Exhibit S**).³

Deposition testimony reflects that sometime in late 2014 and into 2015, certain City officials were seemingly becoming pressured because nothing was happening with the development. Apparently, adjoining parking decks were costing the City money through bonds that had been sold, and with the lack of development, there was purported pressure to "get something going." Despite the prior communications from BOA's bankruptcy counsel to the City in July 2011 as to the interest of West Dearborn and information as to its primary contact, Sarafa, and his attorney, Scott Lites (**Exhibit H**), as well as the pleadings and declarations made in the bankruptcy case itself as to the assignee interest of West Dearborn, the City ran a title search as to recordings only related to the Subject Property.

³ As demonstrated in Argument III, *infra*, here the City tries to latch on to this Discharge (with no other evidence to support same) in an attempt to create an impression that BOA somehow actually retained the Mortgage and then discharged any interest it had in the Subject Property through this Discharge. In reality, it had nothing to discharge.

In their depositions, the City's attorneys testified that since the West Dearborn Assignment was not yet of record, it filed this action against BOA on October 1, 2015, in an apparent effort to "get something going." However, on October 29, 2015 the City was reminded by BOA's counsel Miller Canfield that the Mortgage and related loan had previously been sold to West Dearborn. On December 7, 2015, the City added West Dearborn to the action (see First Amended Complaint, without Exhibits, **Exhibit T**).

In the lawsuit against West Dearborn (Count II), the City claims that as to the Subject Property, any interest of West Dearborn is subordinate to the interest of the City because the Assignment was not recorded prior to the City acquiring its interest through the Bankruptcy Trustee on October 17, 2011. Through its Second Supplemental Discovery Responses (**Exhibit U**), with a lot of "mays" and "mights," the City also argued that the Assignment was defective and therefore passed no interest to West Dearborn. The City also claimed in its discovery responses that since the Assignment itself was not recorded prior to the City acquiring its interest through the bankruptcy court, any interest was obtained free and clear of any interest of West Dearborn. The City also claimed that if the Mortgage itself remained and survived the bankruptcy, it was still held by BOA and since BOA later discharged the Mortgage in 2014 in the furtherance of the tax purchaser litigation (**Exhibits P, Q**), there is no longer any Mortgage (see **Exhibit U**).

While this action was pending, the bankruptcy court was asked to confirm the scope of its Bankruptcy Order. However, Bankruptcy Judge McIvor felt that the real estate issues raised were best resolved in the state court action. A copy of Judge McIvor's Order and related transcript is attached as **Exhibit V**.

C. Counter-motions for summary disposition and the trial court's ruling.

West Dearborn and the City filed counter-motions for summary disposition, which were opposed. With its reply brief, West Dearborn supplied the trial court the City's sur-reply brief in support of its objections, filed in the bankruptcy court (**Exhibit W**). West Dearborn also supplied the trial court with the

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