**STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

CITY OF DEARBORN,

Plaintiff/Counter-Defendant/Appellee,

v

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as successor-
in-interest to STANDARD FEDERAL BANK,
N.A.,

Defendant/Counter-Defendant/Appellee,

and

WEST DEARBORN PARTNERS, LLC,

Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff/Appellant.

Supreme Court
Docket No. 159691

Court of Appeals
Docket No. 339704

Lower Court
Wayne County Circuit Court
Case No. 15-012788-CH
Hon. Muriel D. Hughes

LICIA A. YANGOUYIAN (P56549)
DEBRA A. WALLING (P37067)
Attorneys for City of Dearborn
16901 Michigan Avenue, Suite 14
Dearborn, MI 48126
(313) 943-2035
lyangouyian@ci.dearborn.mi.us
dwalling@ci.dearborn.mi.us

MATTHEW G. MCNAUGHTON (66097)

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals correctly found that the Bankruptcy Court’s Order extinguished WDP’s purported interest, because that interest was not of record due to WDP’s failure to promptly and diligently record.

A. WDP’s interest was extinguished because it was not “of record.”

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court’s ruling that WDP lost any interest it may have held in the Property due to its failure to record, and thus perfect and protect, its interest before the Chapter 7 Trustee transferred the Property to Dearborn. See (Ex. HH), Trial MSD Hr’g Tr., at 47:2-15; (Ex. QQ) COA Op., p. 9. The Bankruptcy Court’s Order made the transfer subject to “claims, liens, interests, rights and obligations *of record*.” See (Ex. Q), 10/5/11 Order (emphasis added). There is no dispute that the Assignment from which WDP’s purported interest arose was not “of record” at that time. Therefore, WDP’s breach of its contractual requirement to “promptly and diligently” record the Assignment led to the elimination of its interest.

Nevertheless, WDP tries to bootstrap the mortgage’s once recorded status to its unrecorded assignment by arguing that the transfer of an underlying promissory note operates as an assignment

of a related mortgage as a matter of law and relies on *Prime Financial Services LLC v Vinton*, 279 Mich App 245; 761 NW2d 694 (2008) and *Ginsberg v Capitol City Wrecking Co*, 300 Mich 712; 2 NW2d 892 (1942). WDP Br., at 12-13. However, the Court of Appeals correctly noted that “the situation before us is particularly unique. . . . [and that w]hile the 2005 mortgage itself was still ‘of record’ at the time of the bankruptcy proceeding, the assignment giving West Dearborn any interest was not.” (Ex. QQ), COA Op., p. 5. As mentioned previously, the fact that the sale of a note operates as an assignment of the mortgage merely puts WDP in the same post-Bankruptcy Order position it was in already: holding an unrecorded assignment. The note itself was not recorded. WDP’s argument has no effect on the ruling by the trial court and the Court of Appeals that WDP’s alleged, unrecorded assignment—however obtained—was extinguished by the Bankruptcy Court Order. (Ex. QQ), COA Op., pp. 5-6.

Likewise, WDP’s reliance on *Coventry* is misplaced because this is not a case about priority of interest between the City and WDP. It is a case about whether WDP’s unrecorded interest survived the Bankruptcy Order’s extinguishment of interests not “of record.” (Ex. Q).

Indeed, as the trial court correctly highlighted, the proceedings before the Bankruptcy Court reveal that WDP knew its unrecorded interest was potentially at risk. See (Ex. HH), Trial MSD Hr’g. Tr., at 47:16-48:2. In Paragraph 9 of the Trustee’s motion seeking to sell Parcel C for \$6,000.00, the Trustee stated that the “Property will be sold subject to all claims, liens, and interests of record without limitation. (Ex. L), ¶ 9; see also *id.* (non-exhaustively listing some interests and stating that the sale would be “together with any other *recorded* interests and restrictions” (emphasis added)). WDP, in turn, filed an objection to the Trustee’s motion. (Ex. M). WDP did not object to the price of the sale. Nor did WDP inherently object to the idea of selling Parcel C at all. Rather, WDP requested that any order “provide that such sale of property is subject to *not*

only the claims, liens and interest of record described in Paragraph 9 of [the Trustee’s] Motion, *but also* subject to the interest of Bank of America now held by West Dearborn Partners LLC as assignee of Bank of America.” *Id.*, at ¶ 5 (emphasis added). In other words, WDP recognized a distinction between interests “of record”—i.e., covered by Paragraph 9 of the Trustee’s Motion—and its unrecorded purported interest in the mortgage. But the Bankruptcy Court’s Order made the transfer of the Property subject only those “claims, liens, interests, rights and obligations *of record.*” (Ex. Q) (emphasis added).

This distinction is further confirmed by statements made by counsel for the Trustee at the hearing on the motions before the Bankruptcy Court. At the hearing, counsel stated: “[WDP] filed a limited objection. They requested that the sale motion also be subject to their assignment of the mortgage from Bank of America*We had pretty much worked out a proposed stipulation to resolve those issues prior to they even file that [sic].*” (Ex. P), Bankr. Hr’g. Tr., at 4:12-19 (emphasis added). But no such stipulation would have been necessary if the Trustee’s proposed order, which made the transfer subject to “all claims, liens, interests, rights and obligations of record” (like the ultimate Order entered by the Bankruptcy Court), also preserved the unrecorded assignment to WDP. Therefore, WDP was aware that its unrecorded interest could be eliminated by the Bankruptcy Court; however, WDP still failed to record.

The Bankruptcy Court could have added requested language to its Order protecting WDP’s *unrecorded* interest. It did not do so. And WDP failed to make its interest “of record” in March 2011, in August 2011 after Objections were filed in the Bankruptcy Court, in October 2011 after the Bankruptcy Court’s October 4, 2011 ruling, and even after the Bankruptcy Court issued its October 5, 2011 Order. In fact, as shown by WDP’s counsel’s assertion of attorney-client privilege, the flawed decision not to make WDP’s interest “of record” in 2011 was a deliberate

one, as WDP could have obtained the necessary acknowledgement and had the Assignment recorded during that time—particularly given that Mr. Mokolke had the same contact information until 2012. *See* (Ex. G), Excerpts of Dep. Tr. of M. Mokolke, at 35:1; 36:9-14; (Ex. K), Excerpts of Dep. Tr. of S. Lites at 34:14-35:9. As the trial court found—and the Court of Appeals agreed— “[i]t is not the role of the Court to protect sophisticated parties and their Counsel from their own mistakes or deliberate actions taken to their detriment.” (Ex. HH), Trial MSD Hr’g. Tr., at 49:4-8; (Ex. QQ), COA Op., pp. 8-9.⁶ Nor is such a result unjust. Anmar Sarafa, the former manager of WDP, acknowledged at deposition that WDP purchased the mortgage knowing it would be subject to whatever the Bankruptcy Court ruled regarding enforceability. *See* (Ex. H), Excerpts of Dep. Tr. of A. Sarafa, at 84:5-17. Further, WDP could have easily prevented the extinguishment. As the trial court found, “WDP had numerous opportunities to correct the deficiencies and/or inconsistencies in the assignment and then record the assignment to protect its interests, yet it failed to do so.” *See* (Ex. HH), at 48:21-25.

WDP could have made its interest “of record” between March 2011 and the motion briefing in August 2011. Notably, when asked why WDP did not record its interest during this time, counsel for WDP asserted the attorney-client privilege, suggesting the decision not to record was

⁶ WDP’s brief demonstrates WDP’s continued misunderstanding of the impact of the Bankruptcy Court’s Order. WDP argues that “the City had actual knowledge of the Assignment to [WDP]” prior to its acquiring its fee interest, and therefore “*it matters not when the Assignment was recorded.*” WDP Br. at 20 (emphasis added). Putting aside for now whether Dearborn had actual knowledge, *see supra* Section IV, it *does* still matter when the Assignment was recorded. The impact of the Bankruptcy Court’s Order does not depend on knowledge; rather it depends on timing. If WDP had recorded the Assignment before October 20, 2011, the Bankruptcy Court’s Order may not have extinguished WDP’s interest. Therefore, the timing of the recordation (and, correspondingly, WDP’s failure to meet its contractual obligation to record “promptly and diligently”) is determinative of whether WDP retained an interest in the Property.

deliberate, notwithstanding WDP's contractual obligation to "promptly and diligently" do so. *See (Ex. D)*, ¶ 21; *see also (Ex. K)*, Excerpts of Dep. Tr. of S. Lites, at 31:2-4, 34:14-35:9.

WDP also could have made its interest "of record" in August 2011 after reviewing the Trustee's motion to approve sale, Dearborn's motion for abandonment, and/or Dearborn's objection (which expressly highlighted that the Assignment had not been recorded). *See (Ex. N)*, at ¶ 21. It could have made its interest "of record" before or after filing its own Objection to the Trustee's motion. It could have made its interest "of record" between the filing of those motions/objections and the Court's hearing on October 4, 2011. It could have made its interest "of record" after the Court entered the Order on October 5, 2011, but before the Quit Claim Deed was executed on October 17, 2011 or recorded on October 20, 2011. Or it could have filed a motion shortly after the Bankruptcy Court's decision, requesting that the Bankruptcy Court amend its Order to specifically include WDP's unrecorded purported interest. Any of those actions could have protected WDP's interest in the Property.

But WDP did none of these. Instead, it sat quietly and failed to record the Assignment until December 2015, more than 4.5 years after the March 2011 transaction and after extensive litigation by Bank of America, Dearborn, and unrelated third parties that may not have been necessary had WDP simply recorded its interest. Therefore, any harm that befell WDP from the Bankruptcy Court's Order was due solely to WDP's (or its agents') negligence or deliberate decision not to record the Assignment.

WDP tries to avoid this result by claiming that there is "no requirement that an assignment be recorded to be valid." WDP Br. at 23. This misses the point. It is the Bankruptcy Court's Order itself that required the assignment to be recorded to have continued validity, not some other legal requirement. And, the language of that Order left WDP's decision not to record a mistaken

strategy with consequences. Moreover, it is indisputable that WDP had an obligation to record the Assignment (i.e., under the Note Sale and Assignment Agreement), and to do so “promptly and diligently.” See (Exhibit D), ¶ 21; see also (Ex. K), Excerpts of Dep. Tr. of S. Lites, at 31:2-4, 34:14-35:9. However, WDP breached its contractual obligation and failed to meet this requirement.

Finally, the City did not receive a “windfall” when it regained ownership of Parcel C. WDP suggests that transfer of Parcel C to the City free of its alleged interest in BOA’s mortgage is “inequitable because it creates a massive windfall to the City, to the detriment of” WDP. WDP Br. at 21; see also *id.* at 9.⁷ WDP’s view of the equities in this case is myopic.

First, the City did not borrow any money, yet its interest was arguably subject to a large mortgage. Furthermore, recall that both the Covenant Deed and the Development Agreement made Parcel C subject to development obligations requiring construction of a mid-rise, mixed-use office, hotel, and residential project on Parcel C. See, e.g., (Ex. A), at ¶ I.A. The Covenant Deed required that this development occur, or else West Village Commons, LLC would forfeit the property back to Dearborn. See *id.* at ¶¶ II.A, B. It was not a windfall for the City to get Parcel C back without the mortgage because 1) the City never got the benefit of the BOA note or mortgage and the money from that loan never was spent on improving the Property; and 2) the City never got the benefit of its original bargain requiring development of Parcel C, which is still vacant after 16 years. Accordingly, by abandoning Parcel C back to Dearborn, the bankruptcy court did not

⁷ It appears that at least part of WDP’s argument regarding a “massive windfall” is that Dearborn acquired the property “for the nominal \$1.00, when the property was valued at \$800,000 under the bankruptcy schedule.” WDP Br. at 11, 21; see also *id.* at 1 (Dearborn “then acquired its interest in the Subject Property from the Bankruptcy Court in 2011 – for \$1.00.”). Putting aside the other consideration by Dearborn discussed below, it is notable that the Bankruptcy Trustee sought to sell Parcel C to another entity for only \$6,000.00. See (Ex. L, ¶ 7). Therefore, Dearborn acquiring the Property for a nominal amount is not inequitable.

render a windfall in favor of the City at all. Instead, it merely put the City *in statu quo* consistent with the terms of the Covenant Deed and the Development Agreement.

Additionally, Mr. Sarafa testified that WDP knew its interest would be subject to the Bankruptcy Court's decisions, a point made even clearer when WDP requested that any Order by the Bankruptcy Court maintain "not only" interests of record, "but also" WDP's alleged interest not of record. *See (Ex. M)*, at ¶ 5 (emphasis added); *(Ex. H)*, Excerpts of Dep. Tr. of A. Sarafa, at 83:9-19, 84:5-17. Indeed, WDP only paid approximately seven cents on the dollar for the purchase of the note and mortgage, suggesting that both it and BOA recognized the speculative nature and significant risk of WDP's investment. Further, any alleged harm to WDP is of its own doing; if it had "promptly and diligently" recorded the Assignment (as it was contractually required to do) in March, April, or May 2011—or even through October 2011—then the Bankruptcy Court's Order would not have extinguished its interest.

In any event, there is no "windfall" to the City. Rather, a finding that WDP no longer holds an interest in the Property protects the City's taxpayers by preventing WDP from continuing to sit quietly while leaving Parcel C vacant and unmarketable—an important piece of real estate in the City that is supported by taxpayer expenditures of over \$16 million on parking structures that flank each side of Parcel C. WDP never demanded payment or sought to foreclose. Indeed, WDP made no mention of its purported interest in the mortgage between the filing of its Objection in the Bankruptcy Court in August 2011 and being sued as a defendant in this case in December 2015. Accordingly, this is not a basis for reviewing or reversing the Court of Appeals' decision.⁸

⁸ WDP also argues that the trial court's ruling and Court of Appeals' opinion is inconsistent with "Michigan law." WDP Br. at 1, 14-15. It is unclear if this vague reference to "Michigan law" is solely to the arguments raised in WDP's briefing, which the City has repeatedly refuted, or to some other purported issue that WDP has not set forth with the requisite specificity for the City to respond. *See (Ex. FF)*, Dearborn Reply ISO MSD at 4, n2.

B. Recordation of the underlying mortgage is of no consequence; WDP only had a purported interest in the Property due to WDP's *unrecorded* Assignment.

WDP next attempts to rebut the impact of the Bankruptcy Court's Order by arguing that the *mortgage* was of record, even though WDP's Assignment of that mortgage was not. WDP claims that the trial court "interpreted the Bankruptcy Order's express terms . . . as inapplicable to the recorded mortgage." WDP Br. at 1.

In raising such an argument, however, WDP confuses the underlying *mortgage* with WDP's *interest in the mortgage*. *See id.* at 1, 6, 8, 9-10. WDP's interest in Parcel C arose solely from the Assignment; without that Assignment, WDP had no interest whatsoever. And it is undisputed that the purported Assignment was unrecorded—due to WDP's own deliberate or negligent conduct—at the time of the Quit Claim Deed from the Trustee. In other words, while the mortgage itself may have still been "of record," the document that gave WDP any interest in Parcel C—i.e., the Assignment—was not. And it was WDP's *interest* that was extinguished.⁹

Indeed, WDP itself recognizes that the Assignment (the purported instrument giving WDP its interest in Parcel C) is a "different and distinct instrument" from the mortgage. *See* WDP Br. at 14. And WDP acknowledged in its Objection to the Trustee's motion that it could lose its unrecorded interest, requesting that the Bankruptcy Court make the transfer "subject to *not* only the claims, liens and interest of record . . . , *but also* subject to the interest of Bank of America now held by [WDP] as assignee of Bank of America." *See* (Ex. M), at ¶ 5 (emphasis added). To that

⁹ Notably, the Bankruptcy Court Order requires both "lien[s]" and "interest[s]" to be "of record" to survive. *See* (Ex. Q). The fact that the Order uses both words suggests they are not duplicative, otherwise, the term "lien" would be superfluous if it was encompassed in the word "interest." *See Port Huron Ed Ass'n v Port Huron Sch Dist*, 452 Mich 309, 324; 550 NW2d 228 (1996) (avoid contract interpretation that renders language superfluous). Therefore, under the Order, not only did the lien (i.e., the "mortgage") have to be "of record," so too did WDP's "interest" in the Property (i.e., the Assignment).

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